ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

NOV 16 2015

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Spartanburg County  
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

S.C. Supreme Court

KENNETH WAYNE CHILES,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001079  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

TIFFANY L. BUTLER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge err by finding counsel provided effective representation where counsel failed to move for a severance prior to Petitioner's joint armed robbery trial with his codefendant, Carnie Norris, III., where Petitioner and Norris had inconsistent defenses, and the jury could not make a reliable judgment about Petitioner's guilt, which prejudiced Petitioner?

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 19, 2008, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner and his co-defendant, Carnie Norris, III., for armed robbery. App. 429. On July 6, 2009, Petitioner's case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole. App. 1. J. Roger Poole represented Petitioner and Beverly Dorine Jones represented Norris. Barry J. Barnette represented the State. App. 1.

At trial, Andrew Bond claimed that around 11:00 p.m. on July 16, 2008, he and his friends Zack Blankenship, Herbert Blankenship, Kellen Mayfield, Joseph Holder, and Kyle Quinn were playing "Frisbee golf" near the First Baptist Church parking lot on North Dean Street in Spartanburg, South Carolina. App. 113, ll. 4 – 23. According to Bond, the Frisbee accidentally landed on top of the building behind the church. Zack Blankenship climbed a tree near the building, picked up the Frisbee, and threw it down to Bond, who was still standing on the ground. App. 114, ll. 8 – 24. As he walked over to pick up the Frisbee, Bond claimed that he was "pushed down from behind by a man." App. 115, ll. 1 – 3.

The man, who Bond identified as Carnie Norris, allegedly asked Bond for identification and told him that he was a security officer and that Bond was under arrest. App. 115, ll. 1 – 3. Norris allegedly pulled Bond's wallet out of his pocket and began pulling cards out. App. 115, ll. 4 – 6. Bond claimed that when he asked to see Norris' badge to prove that he was a security officer, Norris pulled out a knife and held it to Bond's throat. App. 116, ll. 1 – 9. When Bond's friends walked up to see what was happening, Norris allegedly pointed the knife at them "and told them to get on the ground also." App. 117, ll. 2 – 4. Bond's friends ran away, while Petitioner walked closer to where Bond and Norris were. App. 117, ll. 10 – 12.

Norris allegedly handed the wallet to Petitioner, who started looking through it. App. 117, ll. 19 – 20. The police responded “a couple of minutes” later. Norris and Petitioner walked back across the street to Petitioner’s house. App. 120, ll. 20 – 25. After speaking with Bond, officers walked across the street to speak with Petitioner and Norris, who were both standing on the front porch observing the officers. App. 122. Petitioner and Norris were arrested on the porch and charged with armed robbery. On cross-examination, Bond admitted that Petitioner did not have a weapon. App. 128 – 129. Petitioner also did not appear until after Norris approached Bond and asked for identification. App. 128 – 129.

Petitioner testified on his own behalf. App. 237. Petitioner explained that he was asleep in bed when Norris knocked on his door and told him that “it looked like somebody was breaking into a building across the street.” App. 241. Petitioner got out of bed, put on some clothes, grabbed his phone, and looked outside. He saw “some movement in the trees” and what “looked like a couple of guys on top of the roof.” App. 247, l. 25 – App. 248, l. 2. He then walked across the street with bare feet. App. 241.

By the time Petitioner made it across the street, Norris had his hand on Bond’s shoulder and Bond was sitting on the ground. App. 242, ll. 1 – 11. Norris asked Petitioner to hold Bond’s identification card in case Bond ran away. App. 242, ll. 1 - 11. Petitioner put the identification card in his pocket. Police officers arrived moments later. App. 242, ll. 1 – 11. Petitioner and Norris walked back across the street to Petitioner’s house.

Petitioner cooperated with officers and handed over Bond’s card. App. 245. Petitioner explained that he did not participate in any type of crime. App. 247, ll. 6 – 12. Petitioner had no knowledge of any alleged robbery taking place when he walked across the street. App. 247, ll. 6 – 12.

Norris also testified on his own behalf. App. 264. Norris denied touching Andrew Bond and holding him on the ground. App. 276, l. 20. Norris admitted to having a knife in his pocket. However, he denied pulling out the knife and pointing it at Bond and his friends. App. 279, ll. 14 – 25. Norris stated that Bond “sat down” after he asked Bond for identification. App. 276, ll. 15 – 25. Norris claimed that Bond pulled out his own wallet and started showing Norris his name on the cards. App. 276, ll. 16 – 20. Norris denied ever having Bond’s wallet or cell phone. App. 276, ll. 1 – 3. However, Norris stated he was attempting to make a citizen’s arrest. App. 283, ll. 13 – 15.

The jury found Petitioner and Norris guilty of armed robbery. App. 335. Judge Cole sentenced Petitioner to eighteen years’ imprisonment. Norris was sentenced to twenty-eight years’ imprisonment. App. 344. Petitioner appealed his conviction and sentence.

A brief was filed on Petitioner’s behalf pursuant to the procedure in Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner’s appeal pursuant to Anders. See State v. Chiles, Op. No. 2011-UP-336 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 28, 2011). The remittitur was submitted on July 14, 2011. App. 421. LaNelle Cantey DuRant represented Petitioner.

On April 30, 2012, Petitioner filed a PCR application. App. 347. On February 25, 2013, Respondent filed its return requesting an evidentiary hearing. App. 362. On September 17, 2014, a PCR hearing was held before the Honorable Roger L. Couch. App. 364. Leah B. Moody represented Petitioner. J. Clayton Mitchell represented the State. App. 364.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner explained that he was in bed asleep and only walked across the street to see what was happening. App. 378 – 379. Petitioner did not know his co-defendant, Norris, had a weapon. App. 379.

Defense counsel testified during the PCR hearing. Counsel explained that the trial strategy was to distance Petitioner from his co-defendant. App. 395. Petitioner's defense was that "he basically had no intent to commit a crime or be an accomplice to a crime." App. 395, ll. 7 – 11. Petitioner's defense was that "he had no idea that a crime was being committed by Mr. Norris, and, therefore, he could not be an accomplice to it." App. 396, ll. 2 – 6.

Defense counsel admitted that he did not move to sever Petitioner's trial from Norris' trial. Counsel explained that he did not argue for a severance because "it would not have been granted." App. 396. According to counsel, "the chances (sic) of getting a severance was just like nil." App. 396, ll. 22 – 23.

Judge Couch issued an order of dismissal on May 8, 2015. App. 420. The judge wrote that Petitioner "failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel ineffective for failing to move to sever the case." App. 424. The judge found that defense counsel "was not deficient in his decision to not move for a severance." App. 424. The judge also found that Petitioner "was not prejudiced by the joint trial with Norris." App. 424

Petitioner appealed the order of dismissal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR judge erred by finding counsel provided effective representation where counsel failed to move for a severance prior to Petitioner's joint armed robbery trial with his codefendant, Carnie Norris, III., where Petitioner and Norris had inconsistent defenses and the jury could not make a reliable judgment about Petitioner's guilt, which prejudiced Petitioner.

A trial court should grant a severance “when there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of a codefendant or prevent a jury from making a reliable judgment about a codefendant's guilt.” State v. Dennis, 337 S.C. 275, 282, 523 S.E.2d 173, 176 (1999). The judge “must carefully consider problems that may arise from a joint trial.” Id. at 281 – 82, 523 S.E.2d at 176.

A criminal defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). When a defendant challenges a conviction on the ground that counsel was ineffective, the question becomes, “whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result,” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686; see Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). Pursuant to Strickland v. Washington, a court will conduct a two-prong test when determining whether trial counsel's assistance was ineffective. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688).

First, an applicant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Under this prong, “[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688).

Second, the applicant must show that counsel's "deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that 'there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.'" Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688).