STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015 – 001079
Lower Court Case No. 2012-CP-42-1824

RECEIVED

MAR -2 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

Kenneth Wayne Chiles, #167250,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. He was indicted at the September 2008 term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for armed robbery (2008-GS-42-5630). Petitioner was represented by J. Roger Poole, Esquire (Counsel). On July 6, 2009, Petitioner proceeded to trial after which a jury convicted him as indicted. He was sentenced by the Honorable J. Derham Cole to confinement for eighteen (18) years.

A timely Notice of Appeal and Anders brief were filed on Petitioner's behalf and an appeal was perfected. The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal. State v. Chiles, Op. No. 2011-UP-336 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 28, 2011). The remittitur was issued on July 14, 2011.

Petitioner then filed an application for post-conviction relief on April 20, 2012. Respondent filed a Return on March 1, 2013. An evidentiary hearing was held on September 17, 2014, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse. Petitioner was represented by Leah B. Moody, Esquire. The State was represented by J. Clayton Mitchell of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. The Honorable Roger L. Couch issued an Order of Dismissal on May 8, 2015, denying relief.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal on May 14, 2015. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was submitted by Tiffany L. Butler, Esquire on November 16, 2015. This Return follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

- I. **Certiorari is not warranted where Counsel made the strategic decision not to move to sever Petitioner's case from his codefendant's case. Further, it is unlikely that such motion would have been successful because there was no legal basis for the trial court to sever the cases.**

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in failing to find Counsel ineffective for not moving to sever Petitioner's case from his codefendant, Carnie Norris, III's case. Specifically, Petitioner argues the two had inconsistent defenses which supported a motion to sever. Petitioner also argues the PCR court erred in failing to find Petitioner was prejudiced by this deficiency and that if such a motion was made, it would have likely been granted by the trial judge. Respondent submits these arguments are without merit and requests this Court to deny the petition for writ of certiorari.

How the issue was raised below

Trial

Petitioner was tried jointly for armed robbery with his codefendant Norris. (App. p. 7, lines 2-5). Andrew Bond, a victim, testified that he and friends were playing Frisbee golf near the First Baptist Church. (App. p. 113, lines 11-22). Bond's friend, Hub Blankenship, threw the Frisbee on top of a building behind the parking lot and Hub's brother, Zach, went to retrieve it. (App. p. 114, lines 6-20). Bond testified that he was then pushed down from behind by a man he identified as Norris. (App. p. 1-23). Norris then pulled a knife and put it to Bond's throat. (App. p. 116, lines 4-9). Petitioner then approached Norris who then handed him Bond's wallet. (App. p. 117, line 18 – p. 118, line 10). Petitioner and Norris then went through Bond's wallet and removed the contents and eventually gave the wallet back to Bond. (App. p. 119, lines 17-21; p. 120, lines 18-21). Bond testified Petitioner and Norris left and walked across the street to the

front porch of a house as police arrived on the scene. (App. p. 121, line 23 – p. 122, line 4). Both were then arrested on the porch of a house across the street for armed robbery.

Petitioner testified in his defense that Norris knocked on his door and told him that someone was attempting to break into a building across the street from his residence. (App. p. 240, line 3 – p. 241, line 18). He testified there were two, maybe three, people on top of the building. (App. p. 241, lines 19-21). He testified that when he approached the scene, Bond was sitting on the ground. Petitioner believed Norris was making a citizen's arrest. (App. p. 241, line 22 – p. 242, line 24). He testified that he did not know Norris was robbing Bond and that only Norris had a weapon. (App. p. 243, lines 3-8). Petitioner testified Norris handed him a stack of cards from Bond's wallet. The contents of the wallet were found in Petitioner's pocket by police. (App. p. 243, lines 9-17).

Norris also testified in his defense. (App. p. 264). Norris testified he saw individuals on the roof of a building and that he went to wake up Petitioner to alert him to a possible burglary. (App. p. 266, lines 12-19). Norris testified that he wanted to know what Bond and his friends were doing on top of the building. (App. p. 270, line 6-9). Norris claimed he did not rob Bond and did not intent to commit a crime.

PCR

The PCR court ruled that Petitioner failed to meet his burden in proving Counsel was ineffective for failing to move to sever Petitioner and Norris's trial. The court found Counsel made the strategic decision not to move to sever the cases. The court also found that a motion to sever would not likely have been granted by the trial court.

Relevant Law

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he

must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

Discussion

The PCR court did not err in failing to find Counsel ineffective for not moving to sever Petitioner and Norris's case. "Criminal defendants who are jointly tried [...] are not entitled to separate trials as a matter of right." State v. Dennis 337 S.C. 275, 281, 523 SE2d 173, 176 (1999) (citing State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998); State v. Holland, 261 S.C. 488, 201 S.E.2d 118 (1973); State v. Crowe, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379 (1972)). "Charges can be joined in the same indictment and tried together where they 1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances; 2) are proved by the same evidence, 3) are of the same general nature; and 4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced." State v. Beekman 405 S.C. 225, 229, 746 S.E.2d 483, 486 (2013). A court should only grant a severance "when there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of a co-defendant or prevent a jury from making a reliable judgment about a co-defendant's guilt." Id. at 282, 523 S.E.2d at 176.

First, Counsel articulated a reasonable strategy in not moving for a severance of the cases. Counsel testified that Petitioner and Norris presented consistent defenses and that he argued Petitioner was not as responsible as Norris. (App. p. 404, lines 10-11). Counsel testified

he was able to get a mere presence charge which was consistent with Petitioner's defense that he did not have the requisite intent to be convicted. (App. p. 402, lines 15-23). He also viewed the motion to sever as meritless and took that into consideration in deciding not to make the motion. See Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 530 (1992) (Where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing a certain strategy, counsel's choices of tactics will not be deemed ineffective assistance.). It was reasonable for Counsel to argue that Petitioner was not as culpable as Norris and that he should be acquitted on those ground. Counsel's strategy is apparent from his closing argument where he emphasized that Petitioner did not have the necessary intent to be convicted. (App. p. 287, lines 8-20; p. 292, lines 6-10; p. 293, line 22 – p. 294, line 1). He also noted that only Norris handled Bond's wallet and only Norris wielded a weapon. (App. p. 290, lines 6-12). This defense is consistent with Norris's defense in that both argued they lacked the requisite *mens rea*. Respondent submits Counsel's decision not to move for a severance was reasonable because there did not exist meritorious grounds to move to sever the cases. Therefore, certiorari is not warranted.

Second, Petitioner was unable to show any resulting prejudice because there is not a reasonably likelihood that a severance would have been granted. Counsel also testified and the PCR court agreed that there was no basis to move to sever the cases. Petitioner was unable to point to any specific trial right that was violated by trying him and Norris together. Furthermore, the incident clearly arose out of the same circumstances, the charges were proved by the same evidence, and the charges are of the exact same nature.

In any event, a cautionary instruction as to multiple defendants is sufficient to protect each co-defendant from prejudice that might result from a joint trial. See State v. Holland, 261 S.C. 488, 494, 201 S.E.2d 118, 121 (1973). The trial court gave specific instructions that the jury

was to consider the evidence “separately and apply the law to each indictment separately.” (App. p. 311, lines 16-22). The trial court went on to reiterate that the verdicts will “depend upon your determination of facts as it relates to the particular defendant and then your application of the law to those facts as you determine them to be.” (App. p. 327, lines 4-7). Respondent submits there is ample evidence to support the PCR court’s findings that Counsel was not ineffective in failing to move for a severance.


CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court’s ruling as there is ample evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court’s denial of Petitioner’s application. Should this Court grant Certiorari, Respondent requests permission under the rules to fully brief the issue discussed above.